
Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda, supplemental info

Tuesday, September 17, 2019, 7:00pm
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard, President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox 

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
II. Conflicts or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
III. Consent Agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from August 20, 2019 meeting
IV. Open forum for the general public                                                                       Sheppard             
V. Reports 

i. Friends update      Fox
ii. Foundation update Fox
iii. August 2019 financial statements Fox
iv. Director's report Fox

VI. Old Business
i. New trees                                                                                                Sheppard                     
ii. Feasibility and Scoping Exercise discussion                                   Sheppard

VII. New Business
i. Public Records Policy (ACTION)                                                     Sheppard
ii. Insurance Broker discussion                                                       Sheppard
iii. Energy Trust of Oregon – Pre-Bid Project Estimate Sheppard
iv. Executive session            Sheppard

Executive Session per ORS 192.660(2)(f): To consider information or records that are exempt 
by law from public inspection under ORS 192.345(1). Executive session materials will be sent 
separately.

VIII.  Agenda items for the next meeting     Sheppard
IX. Adjournment               Sheppard

                                   
_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, Executive 
Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled for the current 
meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7:00 to 9:00pm in the Jeanne 
Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign language 
interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is given.

Board meeting agenda [2019-09-16] 1



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda, supplemental info

Tuesday, September 17, 2019, 7:00pm
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard, President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox 

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
II. Conflicts or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
III. Consent Agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from August 20, 2019 meeting
Attachments: III.i. August 20, 2019, meeting minutes

IV. Open forum for the general public Sheppard
                                                      

V. Reports 
i. Friends update      Fox
• The Friends of the Library set their annual budget. This fiscal year, they plan to donate $8,500 

for Summer Reading Performers and $4,000 to projects. 
• The Library Foundation and the Friends have been collaborating on the electronic donor 

recognition signage. The monitor will be installed next to the Parker room. We hope to have it 
up and running within the next month.

• The Friends are exploring changing the date and venue for their annual holiday party. They will
explore the topic further at their October meeting.

ii. Foundation update Fox
• The Library Foundation discussed the proposed Feast of Words projects for 2020. Fox 

proposed focusing on physical improvements at the Hood River building and expanding 
programs and equipment in the Makerspace, and expanding the Library of Things collection. 
Fox will present a short list of projects and the Library Foundation will discuss them at their 
October meeting. 

• The Library Foundation will host a donor thank you event on Monday, November 4, 5:00-
6:30pm at the Hood River Library. 

• The Endowment/Planned giving committee hopes to meet in late September to discuss starting
a Legacy Giving Program.

• Local business Thread hosted a Writer’s Workshop fundraiser for the Library Foundation on 
Friday, September 6. They asked people to donate money for writing assistance and then 
donated the proceeds to the Library Foundation.  

iii. August 2019 financial statements Fox
Attachment: V.iii. August 2019 financial statements

The District is tracking well for this fiscal year. We currently have $558,329 in the General Fund, 
$98,310 in the Grants fund and $95,887 in the Capital Equipment Reserve Fund. 

iv. Director's report Fox
Administration

• The Gorham Babson Family Fund of the Gorge Community Foundation donated $500 for the 
Parkdale Library. We will use the money to fund children’s services at the branch. 

Board meeting agenda [2019-09-16], supplementary info 2



• I am still working on the Pay Equity Analysis and updating all our job descriptions. I hope to 
have the job descriptions ready for the board to review and approve at our October meeting.

Facilities

• The Oregon State Preservation Office has permitted us to install the new reader board sign 
directly in front of the building, but it can not be attached to the building. We will install the sign 
on metal posts and attach them to the concrete. 

• Update generator: Hood River County Emergency Management Barb Ayers is unable to 
consult at this time on the generator to determine placement in the building and a cost estimate
for maintenance. She will reach out to me in the near future.

Personnel
• Library staff had conflict resolution training at their Friday, September 13 staff meeting. We 

have hired 6 Rivers Dispute Resolution Center to train staff on handling conflicts with staff and 
the public. 

Statistics 

FY 2018-19
• There is 10,470 registered borrowers, 1,103 are newly registered borrowers. This is an 

increase of 4% over FY 2017-18.

• Annual circulation of physical and electronic items increased 1.4% over 2017-18. We circulated
147,988 items.

• There was a 1% increase in circulation of physical items over FY 2017-18. We circulated 
134,419 items.
◦ Adult materials 67,590
◦ Young Adult materials 3,750
◦ Children’s materials 60,070

• Library2Go increased 17% over last year. 
◦ 6,894 ebooks
◦ 6,675 audiobooks

• 6,345 physical items were added to the collection. This is an increase of 8% over FY 2017-18.

• 2018-19 program involvement shows a 2% increase over 2017-18. We had 24,576 people 
attend our programs.

• Cascade Locks Branch had 2,652 visitors, which was an increase of 51% over FY 2017-18.

• Parkdale Branch had 2,152 visitors, which was an increase of 41% patrons over FY 2017-18.

VI.Old Business

i. New trees                                                                       Sheppard

                                                                                                        

Board meeting agenda [2019-09-16], supplementary info 3



At the August 20, 2019 Library District Board meeting we discussed planting new tress in the 
area of which was occupied by the Norway Maple we recently had to remove. 

I contacted Master Gardener John Stevens and he recommended planting three Himalayan 
Birches (Betula utilis var. jaquemontii). The have the whitest bark of all the birches. They will 
grow around 30 feet tall, like full sun, and will need to be irrigated the first couple of years. The 
best time to plant these trees is in the fall. Good News Gardening has these trees in stock and 
they will cost between $69.99 for a 7’ tree to $129.99 for a 10’ tree. I’d like to discuss this 
further at the meeting. 

ii. Feasibility and Scoping Exercise discussion                                                      Sheppard
I have updated the Request for proposals for the Feasibility and Scoping Exercise. Based upon
the feedback from three consultants, Assistant Director Arwen Ungar and I simplified the 
proposal, although the scope of the project remains the same. 

I would like to discuss the updated proposal in detail, feedback from consultants and our 
options for moving forward. 

VII. New Business
i. Public Records Policy (ACTION)                                                                          Sheppard

Attachment: VII.i. Public Records Policy

In order to receive the 2% credit on our insurance from Special Districts Insurance Services, 
our district must have adopted a public records policy that includes the new changes in the law
pertaining to the timeframe for responding to requests. 

Our policy has been updated and approved by Special Districts legal department. There were 
a few other additions made based upon the recommendations by Special Districts. Please see 
policy in the packet for details.

I’m asking the board to approve the amended policy. 

ii. Insurance Broker discussion                                                     Sheppard
We have used Hub International, formerly known as BCI as our insurance broker for our health
care since 2011. A few years ago, BCI was purchased by Hub International. They have made 
gradual changes to their services. A few months ago, HUB made the decision to contract with 
OneDigital to take over all sales and service for a block of their existing businesses, generally 
employers under about 25 enrolled. We no longer work with the Hood River office and now 
must conduct our business with this nationwide company. I have not been happy with our 
service thus far.

I reached out to another special district in Hood River and they recommended an insurance 
broker who works with Special Districts Insurance Services, named Danny Duggan from 
Century Insurance Group, he is based out of Bend, Oregon. Duggan is able to provide quotes 
for Special Districts Insurance and other health insurance carriers. 

I would propose we make a broker change to Century Insurance Group. If the board approves, 
I can make the necessary changes and we can pass a resolution at our October board 
meeting.

iii. Energy Trust of Oregon – Pre-Bid Project estimate Sheppard
Attachments:

Board meeting agenda [2019-09-16], supplementary info 4



• VII.iii.a. Energy Trust of Oregon, Pre-bid Project Estimates worksheet
• VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study

R & W Engineering firm in Portland conducted a study of our existing unit on behalf of the 
Energy Trust of Oregon. They determined it would be very expensive to convert our system to 
something that combines the heating and cooling on the roof and would be a much more time 
intensive project. Our current set up is the best solution at this time. Our roof top unit (RTU) 
works with the boiler in the basement and 14 Variable Air Units distributed throughout the 
building to provide set points for heating and cooling for individual areas versus trying to heat 
and cool the entire building at the same temperature. 

R & W looked at two options:

Option 1: Replace RTU with a high efficiency Trane Voyager VAV unit which offers energy 
efficient savings and is one step above code. This unit is $4,300 above an RTU at code.

Option 2: Replace RTU with a Trane Intellipak unit which is two steps above code. This unit is 
$21,300 above an RTU at code. 

After conducting their analysis, they determined option 2 would not be cost effective in energy 
saving costs and they are unable to offer an incentive. 

If we chose to install option 1, they estimate we will save $315 per year in electric cost and 
$206 per year in gas costs. The unit is $4,300 above an RTU at code. Energy Trust is able to 
offer an incentive of $1,746. 

Please see the Pre-Bid Project Estimate Worksheet for complete details. 

I recommend we move forward with option 1. If the board approves, I will take the steps to 
solicit bids from contractors. 

After receiving bids, I recommend we call a special meeting to approve the winning bid. Then 
Energy Trust of Oregon will review our contractor’s proposed scope to determine compliance 
with Existing Building’s requirements and the energy efficiency measures as described in the 
report. After it is determined by ICF that the project bid specification matchs the studied 
measures, Form 120C-Incentive Application will be provided for the District to review. 

If we apply for Energy Trust incentives for our project, our signed Form 120C – Incentive 
Application must be provided to ICF BEFORE we issue purchase orders or make other 
financial commitments to begin the project work.

iv. Executive session            Sheppard
Executive Session per ORS 192.660(2)(f): To consider information or records that are exempt 
by law from public inspection under ORS 192.345(1).

Executive session materials will be sent separately.

VIII.  Agenda items for the next meeting     Sheppard
• Updated job descriptions 
• Technology Use Policy
• Summer Reading Statistics
• Electronic Resources Statistics
• Quarterly Statistics

Board meeting agenda [2019-09-16], supplementary info 5



• Medical Insurance Renewal
• Staff presentation: Bilingual Outreach Specialist, Yeli Boots

IX. Adjournment               Sheppard
                                   

_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, Executive 
Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled for the current 
meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7:00 to 9:00pm in the Jeanne 
Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign language 
interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is given.

Board meeting agenda [2019-09-16], supplementary info 6



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Minutes

Tuesday, August 20, 2019, 7:00pm
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard, President

Minutes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox 

Present: Rachael Fox (staff), Jean Sheppard, Megan Janik, Sara Marsden, Brian Hackett.

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
  Board President Jean Sheppard called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. Marsden moved to approve 
  the agenda as presented. Janik seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

II. Conflicts or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
  None stated.

III. Consent Agenda (ACTION) Sheppard  
Sheppard asked how OCLC related to SAGE. Fox stated, OCLC provides the electronic records for 
each library material for our online catalog and they provide the database for Out-Of-Sage 
interlibrary loan. Janik moved to approve the consent agenda. Marsden seconded. The motion 
carried unanimously.

IV. Open forum for the general public Sheppard
There was no one from the public present.   

                                                      
V. Reports 

i. Friends update Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report.

ii. Foundation update Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report.

iii. July 2019 financial statements Fox
There was nothing to add to the written report.

iv. Director's report Fox
Sheppard asked when the website would be completed. Fox stated December 2019.

Fox stated there is a strict vetting process for obtaining an ID card. Sheppard stated she is on the 
committee for the cards and there is a point system and it is a valid form if ID. Fox stated, they will 
start issuing IDs to the public in September at open enrollment events at churches and schools. 

Sheppard asked when the Norway Maple will be removed. Fox stated it will be removed in August or 
early September. Fox stated two companies said the tree is stable for now. 

Fox stated she would contact the board to arrange a special meeting to discuss the rooftop unit 
replacement after she receives the report from Energy Trust of Oregon. 

Sheppard asked about the status of the generator. Fox stated she will contact Barb Ayers to determine
the maintenance costs and will report back to the board. 

III.i. August 20, 2019, meeting minutes 7



Fox stated Ungar is scheduled to go on leave in February.

Sheppard asked how many people attended the Unity Picnic. Fox stated over 100 people attended. 
Sheppard asked if less people attended this year. Fox said we had 300 people last year and we are 
evaluating why we had less people attend. Fox stated there were other events in the gorge the same 
night. Janik noted the Skamania County Fair was also that weekend.

VI. Old Business
i. Discussion of Friends of the Library and Library Foundation liaisons                          Sheppard

Sheppard, Marsden, and possibly Bureker will share being the liaisons to the Friends of the Library. 

  Hackett will continue being the liaison to the Library Foundation. 

ii. New copier (ACTION) Sheppard
Marsden approved the updated documents with the OETC contract pricing. Hackett seconded. The 
motion carried unanimously. 

VII. New Business
i. Exhibits policy (ACTION)                                      Sheppard

Janik made a motion to approve the updated policy. Hackett seconded. The motion carried 
unanimously. 

ii. Air conditioning unit – library server room  (ACTION)      Sheppard
Hackett made a motion to approve the proposal for the air conditioning unit for the library tech room. 
Janik seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

iii. Hood River Rotary Peace Pole  (ACTION)                                               Sheppard
Sheppard stated she is on the committee for the Peace Pole but was not involved in the discussions 
with Fox. Sheppard stated to request from the committee to cover the supplies to install. Fox stated 
she can have our maintenance person Michael Peterson assist with installation. 

Marden made a motion to approve the bid for the installation and removal of the air condition units. 
Janik seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

iv. Assistant Director position reduction in hours discussion                  Sheppard
Sheppard stated we can explore it further but we need more information. The reduction would be 3-4 
hours per week. Sheppard stated the position would need to still be exempt otherwise Fox would have
to supervise all the employees and that does not make sense. The board discussed the possibility of 
job sharing, if needed. Fox stated she will explore the options further and determine how the position 
can be exempt and reduction in pay to match the reduction in hours. Before any changes can be 
made the Pay Equity Analysis must be completed and the job description updated. Fox will complete 
the Pay Equity Analysis in the next month or two and then will present more information for the board 
to discuss. 

v. Feast of Words 2020 fundraiser discussion                                                    Sheppard
The Library Foundation will be discussing the next Feast of Words at their September meeting. The 
board discussed focusing on physical improvements to the Hood River building and supporting the 
Makerspace and Library of Things collection.

III.i. August 20, 2019, meeting minutes 8



vi. Planting new trees      Sheppard
Sheppard suggested contacting Master Gardener John Stevens for advice. If that does not work out, 
then contact Mt. Hood Gardens for consulting advice. Fox stated she will contact Stevens. 

vii. Feasibility and Scoping Exercise discussion                                   Sheppard
Fox stated she will review the proposal and make changes, if needed. Fox stated Bilingual Outreach 
Specialist is able to assist with the project. Hackett stated we should not only change the scope 
because we may still run into the same issue of not having anyone bid on the project. Fox stated she 
will make minor adjustments, consult with colleagues and conduct research regarding the cost of this 
project. She will submit a new proposal to the board at the September 17, 2019 board meeting. 

VIII.  Agenda items for the next meeting      Sheppard
• Statistics FY 2018-19
• Public Records Policy 
• Pay Equity and Assistant Director position 

IX. Adjournment       Sheppard
The meeting was adjourned at 7:57pm.                      

               
_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, Executive 
Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled for the current 
meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7:00 to 9:00pm in the Jeanne 
Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign language 
interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is given.

III.i. August 20, 2019, meeting minutes 9



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 10



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 11



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 12



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 13



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 14



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 15



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 16



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 17



V.iii. August 2019 financial statements 18



Request for proposals for
Feasibility and Scoping Exercise

Enhance Library Services
for Odell Phase II

Proposals due: Monday, November 4 at 5:00pm
Email: rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org
Phone: 541-387-7062

Hood River County Library District (HRCLD) seeks a qualified, experienced facilitator to help lead a 
feasibility and scoping exercise in the community of Odell and develop a final product.

The purpose of the exercise is to identify library needs and services desired by the Odell community, 
to engage library patrons and non-library users, staff and Board of Directors in the process, and to 
raise awareness of existing and potential library services and resources.

The ideal candidate will facilitate meetings, distilling themes and priorities from each, and will be 
instrumental in shaping the final document. The plan will address the implications of the proposed 
priorities and goals for library services in the community of Odell.  

About the District
HRCLD is dedicated to promoting the enjoyment of reading and culture, responding to the 
community's need for information, and enriching quality of life for its patrons. The library serves 
approximately 25,000 people, who checked out over 147,000 items in 2018-19. It includes three 
branches: Cascade Locks, Hood River, and Parkdale. Staff also do extensive outreach to other areas 
of the county, especially in Odell, a rural community of approximately 2,478 people, 67% of who are 
Latinx. There is a weekly Pop-Up Library in Odell. The three libraries are crucial sources of free public 
Internet access and electronic information, with over 6,000 Internet sessions logged in 2018-19 by 
residents and visitors alike on the district's computers as well as thousands of wireless internet 
sessions. HRCLD enjoys a very supportive Friends group, Foundation, and volunteers.  

The district is a member of the Sage Library System and the Libraries of Eastern Oregon. Hood River 
County is in the heart of Columbia River Gorge and the Mount Hood recreational area, providing 
opportunity for many outdoor recreational activities including windsurfing, kiteboarding, hiking, cycling, 
skiing, and much more. The district has stable funding from a countywide special district that was 
created in 2011 following the yearlong closure of the previously county-run library system.

Background

The District has a five-year strategic plan to guide priorities for 2016-2021. The Library District’s 
Strategic Goal 1 is to create a stable and permanent presence in Odell. The sub-goal is to develop a 
service plan and explore collaboration with prospective partners.

We have initiated a phased approach to accomplish this goal. Phase I was to raise awareness and 
funds to support the pop-up library and a feasibility exercise, which will be considered Phase II. 
Results of Phase II will be used to inform Phase III, the development of a proposal for library services, 

VI.ii. Request for proposals for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise 19



including identifying options for mechanisms to deliver services (e.g. permanent physical presence or 
other approach).

Requirements
HRCLD seeks a professional facilitator to:

• Oversee and guide all stages of the feasibility and scoping exercise, including meetings with 
stakeholders, community leaders, library staff, Board of Directors, and community members.

• Collaborate with HRCLD staff members, including Library Director, Assistant Director, and 
Bilingual Outreach Specialist.

• Identify and seek to engage a broad spectrum of sectors of the community, such as families 

with young children, young adults, older adults, business community, Spanish speakers and 

other public service providers to seek input regarding preferences and provisions for library 

services and how best to provide the services in the community of Odell.

• Effectively communicate with community members, which will require various technological 

and in-person approaches and use of bilingual materials.

• Ensure methods used to gather information and communicate with members of the community 
reflect cultural awareness of all community members.

• A draft outreach plan shall be approved by District staff and Board prior to start of public 

outreach.

• Mutually agreed upon milestones shall be established to monitor progress.

• Provide a written report of findings, including description of methods, participants, summary of 
input received and recommendation of library services for the community of Odell.

Proposed timeline and milestones
Initial stages of the feasibility and scoping process are expected to start in December 2019 with an 
expected completion in April 2020.

Task Due Date To Be Determined

Prepare draft outreach plan

Discuss draft outreach plan with District Staff and 
Board

Complete outreach

Complete written report

Discuss report with District Staff and Board

VI.ii. Request for proposals for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise 20



Selection criteria
Proposals will be evaluated by HRCLD staff, with final approval by the Board of Directors. Staff may 
conduct interviews via phone or streaming video. Proposals will be evaluated on the following criteria:

• Relevant experience and success in facilitation and qualitative/quantitative integration skills
• Cost to complete the process
• Prior experience working with both public and staff committees
• Demonstrable facilitation
• Creativity and ingenuity
• Bilingual (Spanish/English) desired

Proposal requirements
To be considered, proposals must include:

• Cover letter including a brief description of the firm or individual.
• Brief summary of the facilitator’s qualifications and experience.
• Basic project plan that includes a description of the methodology, tasks, and timeline.
• Schedule of costs to complete the project.
• References and contact information for previous clients for whom comparable work was 

completed.
• Copy of your standard contract, if applicable.

Proposals addressing the above criteria shall be directed via the contact information below.

Rachael Fox
Library Director
Hood River County Library District
502 State St.
Hood River, OR 97031
rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org
541-387-7062

Proposals will be received by HRCLD until 5:00pm on Monday, November 4, 2019. Proposals 
received after this time will not be accepted.  Please submit proposal via email as PDF files with the 
subject line “Proposal for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise.”  

VI.ii. Request for proposals for Feasibility and Scoping Exercise 21



Public Records Policy

As it values transparency, Hood River County Library District fully complies 
with the Oregon Public Records Law, ORS 192.410-192.505. Every person 
has a right, guaranteed by the Oregon Public Records Law, to inspect any 
non-exempt public record held by the District. The public may request to 
view District records that are not exempt per the Oregon Public Records 
Law and other District policies.

Retention
The District follows the records retention schedule established for special districts by the 
Oregon State Archives. The District has records both electronically and in analog. However, 
the District prefers to retain records in digital formats using open and archival-quality 
standards.

Custodian
The Library Director is the District's custodian of records and is the only party authorized to 
receive or comply with public records requests or inquiries from courts or law enforcement 
agencies.

Requests
To best connect the requester with the records s/he seeks, requests to review records should 
be made in writing. Ideally, the request should include the records requested with date(s), 
subject matter, and any other relevant details. The request should also specify in what format 
the records are desired (e.g. electronic or analog). If not available in the form requested, such
records shall be made available in the form in which they are maintained. ORS 192.440(2).

When a request is submitted in writing, the District must respond within five business days 
acknowledging the receipt of the request. The District will have an additional 10 business 
days to fulfill the request or issue a written response estimating how long fulfillment will take. 
The District is not subject to this response timeframe if it is awaiting a response from the 
requester seeking clarification of the inquiry or if the requester has not agreed to pay for the 
records, provided that the cost is $50 or more. Other considerations that apply are:

• Complicate requests
• Large volume of requests
• Request involving documents not readily available or if the necessary staff are 

unavailable to fulfill the request

Access
The District aims to provide access to records by whatever method is most convenient for the 
requester, ideally without cost to him/her. Whenever possible, the District will supply records 
electronically. If electronic records are unavailable or infeasible to transmit, analog records 
may be viewed and copied at any of the District's branch libraries during regular public open 
hours. Most records are kept at the Hood River Library, so individuals wishing to view records 

VII.i. Public Records Policy 22



Public Records Policy, p.2

at another location should state as such in their requests.

If the requester would like to review analog records, they may be viewed at any library district 
location. Depending on the nature of the request, the District may require the review to take 
place with a District representative present. Any research fees (see below) must be paid in 
advance. Additional fees may be charged if District staff presence is required during the 
review, which shall equal the rate for research fees. Original records shall not be removed 
from the District's locations unless authorized by the Library Director or Board of Directors.

If any person attempts to alter, remove, or destroy any District record, the District 
representative shall immediately terminate such person’s review and notify the District's legal 
counsel. 

Fees
The District makes every effort to provide records without cost to the requester. However, 
some requests may require copying or significant amounts of staff time. In order to recover its
costs for such requests, the District may charge fees associated with searching for and 
copying records. The Library Director may waive these fees at his/her discretion. Fees shall 
be limited to no more than $50.00 unless the requester is provided with written notification of 
the estimated amount of the fee and the requester confirms that s/he wants the District to 
proceed. 

Fees are as follows:

• Paper copies or printouts: $0.15 per side for black and white or $0.50 per side for color.
• Copies of nonstandard materials (e.g. maps, videos, sounds recordings): Fees shall be

the actual costs incurred by the District plus staff time used to them.
• Research fees: If a request requires District personnel to spend more than fifteen 

minutes searching or reviewing records prior to their review or release for copying, the 
fee shall be $50.00 per hour, charged in fifteen minute increments, for any time spent 
over fifteen minutes. The District shall estimate the total amount of time required to 
respond to the records request and must be paid in advance before the search will 
proceed. If the actual time and costs are less than estimated, the excess money shall 
be refunded to the requester. If the actual time and costs are in excess of the 
estimated time, the difference shall be paid by the requester when the records are 
produced.

• Additional charges: If a request is of such magnitude and nature that compliance would
disrupt the District's normal operation, the District may impose such additional charges 
as are necessary to reimburse for its actual costs of producing the records.

• Reduced fee or free copies: Whenever it determines that furnishing copies of public 
records in its possession at a reduced fee or without costs would be in the public 
interest, the Board or Library Director may so authorize. ORS 192.440(4).

Restrictions
Per the District's Privacy Policy, some District records in addition to those delineated in the 
Oregon Public Records Law are exempt from disclosure or destroyed once they are no longer

VII.i. Public Records Policy 23



Public Records Policy, p.3

necessary for District operations. These records include circulation records, records showing 
use of the District's computer networks, and other records containing personally-identifiable 
information about the District's patrons and their library use.

Approved by the Board of Directors, February 21, 2012
Last revised: July 21, 2015 September 17, 2019
Last reviewed: September 17, 2019

VII.i. Public Records Policy 24



VII.iii.a. Energy Trust of Oregon, Pre-bid Project Estimates worksheet 25



VII.iii.a. Energy Trust of Oregon, Pre-bid Project Estimates worksheet 26



TECHNICAL ANALYSIS STUDY 

 
HOOD RIVER LIBRARY 

502 STATE ST 
HOOD RIVER, OR 97031 

PROJECT: ETECPS1541627577 

 

SPONSORED BY: 

ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON 
EXISTING BUILDING PROGRAM 

 
ELECTRIC UTILITY: PACIFIC POWER 

GAS UTILITY: NORTHWEST NATURAL 

SUBMITTED BY:  
R&W ENGINEERING, INC. 

9/10/19 
VERSION #2 

 

1
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 27



CONTACTS 

 

SITE CONTACT 

 

The following facility personnel assisted with this report:  

 

Rachael Fox 

Library Director 

502 State St 

Hood River, OR 97031 

Phone: (503) 387-7062 

rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org  

 

ENERGY TRUST CONTACT 

 

 Nikki Burton 

 ICF 

615 SW Alder Street, Suite 200 

Portland, OR 97205 

Phone: (503) 525-6140 

 

ATAC CONTACT INFORMATION 

 

The Allied Technical Assistance Contractor (ATAC) that prepared this report is:  

 

 Mark D. Jones, P.E., LEED AP, CCP 

R&W Engineering, Inc. 

9615 SW Allen Blvd., Suite 107 

Beaverton, OR 97005  

Phone: (503) 292-6000 

mjones@rweng.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 28



DISCLAIMER  

 

In no event will Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. or ATAC be liable for (i) the failure of the customer to achieve the 

estimated energy savings or any other estimated benefits included herein, or (ii) for any damages to customer’s 

site, including but not limited to any incidental or consequential damages of any kind, in connection with this report 

or the installation of any identified energy efficiency measures. The intent of this energy analysis study is to 

estimate energy savings associated with recommended energy efficiency upgrades. This report is not intended to 

serve as a detailed engineering design document, any description of proposed improvements that may be 

diagrammatic in nature are for the purpose of documenting the basis of cost and savings estimates for potential 

energy efficiency measures only. Detailed design efforts may be required by participant in order to implement 

potential measures reviewed as part of this energy analysis. While the recommendations in this report have been 

reviewed for technical accuracy and are believed to be reasonably accurate, all findings listed are estimates only, as 

actual savings and incentives may vary based on final installed measures and costs, actual operating hours, energy 

rates and usage.  

 

NEXT STEPS FOR THE PARTICIPANT 

APPLY FOR ENERGY TRUST INCENTIVES 
Make an implementation decision: Please evaluate the information contained in this report and any potential 

measures and incentives listed in the Form 110C – Project Detail and Incentive Estimates (produced by ICF). Have 

your contractors bid for the measures(s) you wish to implement and send ICF a copy of the final bid. ICF will review 

your contractor’s proposed scope to determine compliance with Existing Building’s requirements and the energy 

efficiency measures as described in this report. After it is determined by ICF that the project bid specification match 

the studied measures, Form 120C-Incentive Application will be provided for you to review. If you apply for Energy 

Trust incentives for you project, your signed Form 120C – Incentive Application must be provided to ICF BEFORE you 

issue purchase orders or make other financial commitments to begin the project work.  

 

Upon Completion of the Project: ICF must be notified once the project is completed in order to arrange a post-

installation verification for projects that receive incentives greater than $5,000. The program must receive all 

required documentation and perform any required post installation verifications before incentives can be issued.  

 

APPLY FOR ENERGY TRUST SOLAR INCENTIVES 
Make a solar implementation decision: Please evaluate the solar site evaluation (SSE), if included in this report. 

Your PMC will arrange a meeting to discuss the results of the evaluation. Or, if you wish to move forward, your PMC 

will provide you with a list of qualified Trade Ally contractors. Obtain bids on the solar measures you want to 

implement. When you’ve selected a solar Trade Ally contractor for the installation, the Trade Ally will provide and 

submit the necessary incentive application paperwork to Energy Trust on your behalf. The PMC and Energy Trust’s 

solar staff are available to answer all your solar questions.  

 

Upon Completion of the Solar Project: The solar Trade Ally will arrange for the final Energy Trust verifications, and 

within 30 days of a successful verification you’ll receive your solar incentive check from Energy Trust.  

3
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 29



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY    

This report documents energy efficiency upgrades for the Hood River Library building which is located at 502 State 

St. It is a two-story building with a total floor area of approximately 18,854 square feet. The library is in operation 

year-round for six days a week. The building was originally constructed in 1918, there was a major addition and 

remodel of original building completed in 2004. Using utility data from the last three years, the building’s average 

energy use is 168,467 kWh and 6,530 therms, which gives the building an overall EUI of 65.1 kBTU/sf/yr. Table 1 

below lists the energy efficiency recommendations for the library., the two measures are mutually exclusive. EEM 

1 is expected to reduce the building’s gas consumption by 4% and reduce electricity consumption by 2.5%. EEM 2 

is expected to reduce the building’s gas consumption by 4% and reduce electricity consumption by 5.5%. 

ENERGY EFFICIENCY MEASURE SUMMARY 

 

1. EEM 1: Upgrade rooftop unit to a high efficiency TRANE Voyager 

2. EEM 2: Upgrade rooftop unit to a high efficiency TRANE Intellipak 

 

TABLE 1: EEM SUMMARY TABLE (ANNUAL)  

 
 

NOTES:  

* Cost savings are based on Energy Trust average utility rates of $0.075/kWh and $0.755/therm for Oregon and 

$0.7353/therm for Washington in payback calculations. Actual participant rates may be different.  

** Non-energy cost benefits are from items such as avoided maintenance, reduced water costs, or other cost savings.  

*** Simple Payback is a measure of how quickly your investment in the measure will pay for itself. 

**** Simple ROI is another measure of measure’s benefits. This is simply the inverse of the Simple Payback and can be 

used as a rough comparison to other investment opportunities.  

***** EEM 1 is mutually excusive with EEM 2 and EEM 2 is mutually exclusive with EEM 1. 

  

MEASURE ELECTRIC 

SAVINGS 

(kWh)

GAS SAVINGS 

(THERMS)

ENERGY COST 

SAVINGS 

*

NON-ENERGY 

BENEFITS 

**

INSTALLATION 

COST

SIMPLE 

PAYBACK 

***

RETURN ON 

INVESTMENT 

(ROI) 

****
EEM #1 4,212 273 $522 $0 $4,300 8.2 12.1%

EEM #2 9,296 273 $903 $0 $21,300 23.6 4.2%

4
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 30



HISTORICAL ENERGY USE  

TABLE 2A: HISTORICAL BUILDING ENERGY USE 

 

 

NOTE: Based on utility bills for the last 34 months, the EUI for this building is 19% lower than a typical education 

building in the Northwest. See Table 2B below. 

 

TABLE 2B: COMMERCIAL DELIVERED ENERGY CONSUMPTION INTENSITIES 

  H
ea

lt
h

ca
re

 

Fo
o

d
 S

al
es

 

Lo
d

gi
n

g 

O
ff

ic
e

 

R
et

ai
l 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 

R
el

ig
io

u
s 

W
ar

eh
o

u
se

 

O
th

er
 

Average (kBtu/SF) 135.7 198.3 88.1 88 86.4 80.6 43.3 33.3 125.3 

*Data from 2010 Buildings Energy Data Book, Table 3.1.9 (national CBECS data) 

 

 

 

 

 

2016 2017 2018 2019
3 Year 

Average
2016 2017 2018 2019

3 Year 

Average

Jan 13,760 13,280 12,640 13,227 1,173 773 1,095 1,014

Feb 13,520 14,320 14,240 14,027 858 874 1,269 1,000

Mar 12,800 9,760 12,480 11,680 646 557 557 587

Apr 13,120 11,600 12,080 12,267 416 244 252 304

May 11,840 15,840 12,160 13,280 243 124 142 170

Jun 11,200 17,040 13,600 13,947 150 56 103

Jul 14,960 17,680 16,320 113 32 73

Aug 15,600 21,600 18,600 244 87 166

Sep 15,600 16,720 14,000 15,440 33 343 257 211

Oct 13,040 12,640 10,560 12,080 460 471 456 462

Nov 14,160 12,960 12,800 13,307 1,186 853 1,093 1,044

Dec 15,760 14,480 12,640 14,293 1,751 1,347 1,095 1,398

Total 112,160 182,160 124,720 51,440 168,467 3,430 6,857 5,648 3,315 6,530

Total (kBtu) 382,706 621,556 425,562 175,521 574,832 343,000 685,700 564,800 331,500 653,033

Energy Use Index (KBTU/SF/YR) 65.1

Electric Use (kWh) Natural Gas Use (Therm)

Total Energy Use (kBtu) 1,227,866

5
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 31



FACILITY OVERVIEW 

FACILITY DESCRIPTION  

The Hood River Library building is located at 502 State St in Hood River, OR. It was originally constructed in 1913. 

The building is two stories and functions as a public library. The library is operation Monday thru Saturday year 

round, occupancy is generally higher during the winter months. There was a major addition, remodel and reroof of 

the existing building in 2004. The total building area is approximately 18,854 square feet. The first and second floor 

are approximately equal in floor area. There is a 50-ton variable volume rooftop HVAC which supplies air via 

terminal units to the majority of the building. The rooftop unit provides dx cooling. Heating is provided by hot 

water reheat coils at the terminal units. The hot water loop is served by a natural gas boiler. HVAC is controlled by 

a Niagara DDC system.  

 

BUILDING SHELL  

The library has two types of brick exterior walls. The original building (1918 construction) has an estimated 8” 

hollow brick construction (U-0.469). The 2004 addition has exterior brick walls with interior insulation (U-0.13), the 

estimated U-factor is the maximum value allowed by code at time of construction. There was a reroof of the 

original building completed during the 2004 remodel. The roof of the library is estimated to have the maximum 

allowable U-value allowed by code at time of construction (U-0.05). Windows in the original building are clear 

single pane (U-0.95, SC-0.95). The windows in the 2004 addition are double pane clear, (U-0.6, SC-0.82). Interior 

shading devices were not found to be in use. The building is considered to have average tightness. 

 

INTERNAL LOADS 

People: The library is open Tuesday thru Thursday from 10 am to 7 pm and Friday thru Saturday from 10 am to 6 

pm. Average occupancy is between 50-100 people. The library is unoccupied on Sundays, and on Mondays has 

minimal occupancy of about two staff from 7 am to 6:15 pm. Occupancy can reach 300 people about 10 times 

throughout the year when the library hosts group events. Tuesdays and Thursdays are typically the busiest days all 

year, and Wednesday are busier in the summer months. The winter months are typically busier than summer 

months.  

 

Lighting: Interior lighting is mostly fluorescent fixtures which are controlled manually. Interior lighting power 

density is estimated to be 0.8-W/sf. There are some non-LED exterior lighting fixtures which are controlled by a 

timer.  

 

Miscellaneous: No unusually high equipment loads are present, so a standard education load of 0.22 W/sf is 

assumed.   

 

WATER SIDE HVAC SYSTEM 

There is a Weil McLain Series 78 non-condensing natural gas boiler located in the boiler room below the first floor. 

It has a heating capacity of 641-MBH and is 80% efficient. The boiler has a 1/3-hp burner motor and two ¾-hp hot 

water primary pumps.  The boiler supplies 180°F water to the hot water loop which serve reheat coils on all 

terminal units. 

 

6
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 32



AIR SIDE HVAC SYSTEM 

There is a 50-ton cooling only (dx cooling) TRANE Voyager (AHU-1) rooftop unit serving the library. AHU-1 is a 

variable volume system and it supplies cooled air to interior zones via terminal units. It has a 20-hp variable speed 

supply fan and a 7.5-hp variable speed return fan.  

 

There are 14 total terminal units in the library, all with hot water heating coils. Two of the terminal units are fan 

powered (FPTU-1 & 2). FPTU-1 serves the second-floor corridor and study room, it has a 19-MBH heating coil and a 

¼-hp fan. FPTU-2 serves the young adult and reading room areas on the second floor, it has a 62-MBH heating coil 

and a ¾-hp fan. The other 12 terminal units have heating coils ranging between 13 and 94-MBH and supply 

between 300 and 2,150-CFM of conditioned air.  

 

There are two 3-ton Mitsubishi min-split air conditioning units (AC-1 & 2), they have an efficiency of 1.4-kW/ton. 

AC-1 serves the second-floor story cave. AC-2 serves the computer room and story cave on the first floor.  

 

There is an electric wall heater serving the staircase in the southeast corner of the building. It has a 2-kW heating 

capacity and supplies 100-CFM. 

 

There are three exhaust fans in the building (EF-1 thru 3) which exhaust 800, 200 and 100-CFM, respectively.  

 

CONTROLS  

There is a Niagara DDC system which controls the buildings HVAC and boiler systems. Typical occupied 

heating/cooling setpoints are 69/72 °F throughout the building. Unoccupied heating/cooling setpoints are 55/85 

°F. The HVAC systems are set to be in occupied mode from 7 am to 6:15 pm on Mondays, Fridays and Saturdays, 

and from 7 am to 7:15 pm Tuesday thru Thursday. HVAC is off on Sundays. Ventilation throughout the building is 

estimated to be 20% of supply air, which is slightly above current code minimum requirements. There are no CO2 

sensors currently installed for demand control ventilation. 

 

OTHER BUILDING ENERGY EQUIPMENT  

Elevator equipment. 

 

SOLAR OPPORTUNITIES  

Facility staff has indicated that they are not interested in being contacted regarding solar opportunities. 

 

 

7
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 33



MODEL CALIBRATION  

TABLE 3: BILLED/BASELINE VERSUS MODELED ENERGY USE 

 

EXPLANATION: 

The baseline model should be considered accurate. The HVAC loads including fans and plants, and interior lighting 

are included in the model. Differences between the model and utility bills are due to non-modeled energy uses 

including domestic hot water, exterior lighting, computer equipment and plug loads, and elevator equipment. 

HVAC equipment schedules were modeled as being in occupied mode 7 am – 7 pm on weekdays, 7 am – 6 pm on 

Saturdays and off on Sundays. The modeled weekday schedule is an average of the actual programmed schedule 

over five weekdays. Modeled weekend schedules match actual programmed schedules. Modeled people 

occupancy was decreased slightly in summer months to account for the fact that the winter months are generally 

busier. 

 

           

Baseline Model % Deviation Baseline Model % Deviation

Jan 13,227 7,963 -39.8% 1,014 1,031 1.7%

Feb 14,027 7,847 -44.1% 1,000 718 -28.2%

Mar 11,680 7,902 -32.3% 587 577 -1.6%

Apr 12,267 7,763 -36.7% 304 376 23.7%

May 13,280 10,461 -21.2% 170 199 17.3%

Jun 13,947 13,697 -1.8% 103 118 14.6%

Jul 16,320 18,838 15.4% 73 89 22.8%

Aug 18,600 15,608 -16.1% 166 189 14.2%

Sep 15,440 12,356 -20.0% 211 254 20.4%

Oct 12,080 9,041 -25.2% 462 608 31.5%

Nov 13,307 8,958 -32.7% 1,044 1,009 -3.4%

Dec 14,293 8,380 -41.4% 1,398 1,289 -7.8%

Total 168,467 128,814 -23.5% 6,530 6,457 -1.1%

Electric Use (kWh) Natural Gas Use (Therm)

8
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 34



DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED MEASURES 

 

EEM 1 – HIGH EFFICIENCY ROOFTOP UNIT 

 

BASELINE CONDITION 

There is a 50-ton cooling only (dx cooling) TRANE Voyager (AHU-1) rooftop unit serving the library, it was installed 

in 2004. AHU-1 is a variable volume system and it supplies cooled air to interior zones via terminal units. It has a 

20-hp variable speed supply fan and a 7.5-hp variable speed return fan.  

 

There are 14 total terminal units in the library, all with hot water heating coils. Two of the terminal units are fan 

powered (FPTU-1 & 2). FPTU-1 serves the second-floor corridor and study room, it has a 19-MBH heating coil and a 

¼-hp fan. FPTU-2 serves and the young adult and reading room areas on the second floor, it has a 62-MBH heating 

coil and a ¾-hp fan. The other 12 terminal units have heating coils ranging between 13 and 94-MBH and supply 

between 300 and 2,150-CFM of conditioned air.  

 

MODIFIED BASLEINE CONDITION  

Since the existing equipment is past its useful lifetime, only energy savings resulting from new equipment 

exceeding current minimum code efficiencies will be eligible for incentive funds. Savings calculations for this 

measure were calculated by comparing the proposed condition (described below) to a modified baseline 

condition. The modified baseline condition uses code minimum efficiencies for AHU-1, and code minimum 

ventilation requirements, therefore any savings resulting from improvements beyond code minimums will be 

reflected.  

 

The equipment selection for this modified baseline condition is the 50-ton TRANE Voyager standard efficiency unit. 

This unit supplies 20,000 CFM and has a rated EER of 10.3. It has a 20-hp supply fan and a 10-hp return fan, both 

variable speed. See appendix for additional equipment details. 

 

This condition includes the addition of supply air temperature reset. Oregon Energy Efficiency code requires that 

supply air temperature is reset by a minimum of 35% of the difference between the design supply-air temperature 

(55°F) and the design air temperature (74°F). This results in a supply air temperature reset of 6.65°F. Oregon 

Energy Code also requires that the static pressure set point be reset based on the zone requiring most pressure 

(“critical zone reset”), this is included in the modified baseline condition as well. Heating and cooling setpoints for 

this condition are 69/74 °F, in order to meet code requirement of a 5 °F minimum deadband. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 35



PROPOSED CONDITION  

This measure proposes upgrading the rooftop unit to a new high efficiency 50-ton TRANE Voyager VAV unit. The 

proposed unit has a rated EER of 10.4 and supplies 20,000 CFM of air. The supply fan is 20-hp and the return fan is 

10-hp, both variable speed. CO2 sensors will be added in the return duct to allow for demand controlled 

ventilation, which will allow ventilation amounts to be slightly lowered as allowed by code. A supply air 

temperature reset of 10°F is included in this condition. Critical zone reset is also included in this proposed 

condition. See appendix for addition equipment details. Heating and cooling setpoints for this condition are 69/74 

°F, in order to meet code requirement of a 5 °F minimum deadband. 

 

NON-ENERGY SAVINGS DESCRIPTION 

None. 

 

 

TABLE 4: SUMMARY OF EEM 1 

 kWh Savings Therm Savings 

Estimated Energy Savings 4,212 273 

Age of Equipment Being Replaced 16 years 

Is Existing Equipment Currently 
Working or Not Working? 

Working 

Cost  
[Specify if Incremental was used] 

$4,300 – Incremental vs modified baseline 

Notes  
[Include Assumptions Here] 

Pricing provided by TRANE (David Strasser) 

 

 

TABLE 5: EEM 1 CONDITIONS 

Item Baseline Condition (existing) Modified Baseline (code) Proposed Condition 

AHU-1 
 

Existing TRANE Voyager  
Cooling: 50-ton, 20,000 CFM 
 
Full load energy rate: 1.25-kW/ton 
 
Supply fan: 12.8 kW VFD 
Return fan: 4.5 kW VFD 
 
Setpoints: 69/72°F 
 
No DCV: Code ventilation = 16% of 
supply 
 
Economizer: Yes 
Critical zone pressure reset: No 
Supply air reset: No 

New Std Efficiency TRANE Voyager 
Cooling: 50-ton, 20,000 CFM 
  
Full load energy rate: 1.17-kW/ton 
 
Supply fan: 14.74 kW VFD 
Return fan: 7.2 kW VFD 
 
Setpoints: 69/74°F 
 
No DCV: Code ventilation = 16% of 
supply 
 
Economizer: Yes 
Critical zone pressure reset: Yes 
Supply air reset: Yes (∆T-6.65°F) 

High Efficiency TRANE Voyager 
Cooling: 50-ton, 20,000 CFM 
 
Full load energy rate: 1.11-kW/ton 
 
Supply fan: 14.54 kW VFD 
Return fan: 7.2 kW VFD 
 
Setpoints: 69/74°F 
 
DCV: Avg ventilation = 13% of supply 
 
 
Economizer: Yes 
Critical zone pressure reset: Yes 
Supply air reset: Yes (∆T-10°F) 

 

 

 

10
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 36



EEM 2 – EXTRA HIGH EFFICIENCY ROOFTOP UNIT 

 

BASELINE CONDITION 

There is a 50-ton cooling only (dx cooling) TRANE Voyager (AHU-1) rooftop unit serving the library, it was installed 

in 2004. AHU-1 is a variable volume system and it supplies cooled air to interior zones via terminal units. It has a 

20-hp variable speed supply fan and a 7.5-hp variable speed return fan.  

 

There are 14 total terminal units in the library, all with hot water heating coils. Two of the terminal units are fan 

powered (FPTU-1 & 2). FPTU-1 serves the second-floor corridor and study room, it has a 19-MBH heating coil and a 

¼-hp fan. FPTU-2 serves and the young adult and reading room areas on the second floor, it has a 62-MBH heating 

coil and a ¾-hp fan. The other 12 terminal units have heating coils ranging between 13 and 94-MBH and supply 

between 300 and 2,150-CFM of conditioned air.  

 

MODIFIED BASELINE CONDITION  

Since the existing equipment is past its useful lifetime, only energy savings resulting from new equipment 

exceeding current minimum code efficiencies will be eligible for incentive funds. Savings calculations for this 

measure were calculated by comparing the proposed condition (described below) to a modified baseline 

condition. The modified baseline condition uses code minimum efficiencies for AHU-1, and code minimum 

ventilation requirements, therefore any savings resulting from improvements beyond code minimums will be 

reflected.  

 

The equipment selection for this modified baseline condition is the 50-ton TRANE Voyager standard efficiency unit. 

This unit supplies 20,000 CFM and has a rated EER of 10.3. It has a 20-hp supply fan and a 10-hp return fan, both 

variable speed. See appendix for additional equipment details. 

 

This condition includes the addition of supply air temperature reset. Oregon Energy Efficiency code requires that 

supply air temperature is reset by a minimum of 35% of the difference between the design supply-air temperature 

(55°F) and the design air temperature (74°F). This results in a supply air temperature reset of 6.65°F. Oregon 

Energy Code also requires that the static pressure set point be reset based on the zone requiring most pressure 

(“critical zone reset”), this is included in the modified baseline condition as well. Heating and cooling setpoints for 

this condition are 69/74 °F, in order to meet code requirement of a 5 °F minimum deadband. 

 

PROPOSED CONDITION  

This measure proposes upgrading the 50-ton rooftop unit to a new TRANE Intellipak unit with variable speed eFlex 

compressors.  The proposed equipment has a rated EER of 10.8. The supply fan is 20-hp and the return fan is 10-

hp, both variable speed. The proposed unit achieves high efficiency cooling performance via variable speed 

compressors allowing for improved part load efficiencies. CO2 sensors will be added in the return duct to allow for 

demand-controlled ventilation, which will allow ventilation amounts to be slightly lowered as allowed by code. A 

supply air temperature reset of 10°F is included in this condition. Critical zone reset is also included in this 

proposed condition. See appendix for addition equipment details. Heating and cooling setpoints for this condition 

are 69/74 °F, in order to meet code requirement of a 5 °F minimum deadband. 

11
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 37



 

NON-ENERGY SAVINGS DESCRIPTION 

None. 

 

TABLE 6: SUMMARY OF EEM 2 

 kWh Savings Therm Savings 

Estimated Energy Savings 9,296 273 

Age of Equipment Being Replaced 16 years 

Is Existing Equipment Currently 
Working or Not Working? 

Working 

Cost  
[Specify if Incremental was used] 

$21,300 – Incremental vs modified baseline 

Notes  
[Include Assumptions Here] 

Pricing provided by TRANE (David Strasser)  

 

 

TABLE 7: EEM 2 CONDITIONS 

Item Baseline Condition (existing) Modified Baseline (code) Proposed Condition 

AHU-1 
 

Existing TRANE Voyager  
Cooling: 50-ton, 20,000 CFM 
 
Full load energy rate: 1.25-kW/ton 
 
Supply fan: 12.8 kW VFD 
Return fan: 4.5 kW VFD 
 
Setpoints: 69/72°F 
 
No DCV: Code ventilation = 16% of 
supply 
 
Economizer: Yes 
Critical zone pressure reset: No 
Supply air reset: No 

New Std Efficiency TRANE Voyager 
Cooling: 50-ton, 20,000 CFM  
  
Full load energy rate: 1.17-kW/ton 
 
Supply fan: 14.74 kW VFD 
Return fan: 7.2 kW VFD 
 
Setpoints: 69/74°F 
 
No DCV: Code ventilation = 16% of 
supply 
 
Economizer: Yes 
Critical zone pressure reset: Yes 
Supply air reset: Yes (∆T-6.65°F) 

TRANE Intellipak Inverter Compressors 
Cooling: 50-ton, 20,000 CFM 
 
Full load energy rate: 0.98-kW/ton 
 
Supply fan: 14.37 kW VFD 
Return fan: 7.2 kW VFD 
 
Setpoints: 69/74°F 
 
DCV:  Avg ventilation = 13% of supply 
 
 
Economizer: Yes 
Critical zone pressure reset: Yes 
Supply air reset: Yes (∆T-10°F) 

12
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 38



APPENDIX A –BASELINE (EXISTING CONDITIONS):  

 

Baseline Energy Consumption 

 

13
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 39



 

Baseline Energy Summary 

14
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 40



 APPENDIX B – MODIFIED BASELINE 

Modified Baseline Energy Consumption  

 

15
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 41



Modified Baseline Energy Summary  

 

16
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 42



Modified Baseline Equipment Details  

 

17
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 43



Modified Baseline Cost 

 

 

 

 

 

18
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 44



APPENDIX C – EEM 1 

EEM 1 Energy Consumption 

 

19
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 45



EEM 1 Energy Summary 

20
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 46



EEM 1 Equipment Details 

 

21
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 47



EEM 1 Cost 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 48



APPENDIX D– EEM 2 

 

EEM 2 Energy Consumption 

 

23
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 49



EEM 2 Energy Summary 

24
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 50



EEM 2 Cost 

 

25
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 51



 

 

26
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 52



EEM 2 Costs 

 

 

 

 

 

27
VII.iii.b. Energy Trust of Oregon, Technical Analysis Study 53


	Request for proposals for
	Feasibility and Scoping Exercise
	Enhance Library Services
	for Odell Phase II
	About the District
	Requirements
	Proposed timeline and milestones
	Selection criteria
	Proposal requirements


	Public Records Policy
	Retention
	Custodian
	Requests
	Access
	Fees
	Restrictions


